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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

DOUGLASS GILMORE, EXECUTOR OF
THE ESTATE OF BESS (EMORE, No. 3:08¢v-1058(SRU)
Plaintiff,

V.
PAWN KING, INC.,WILLIAM V.

MINGIONE,
Defendant.

RULING AND ORDER

This case arises out of a seriepatvntransactions betweddess Gilmorg“B.
Gilmore”) and defendant Pawn King, InBouglass Gilmor¢“D. Gilmore” or “Gilmore”), in
his capacity as executor of Bilmore’s estate, alleged that Pawn King and its sole proprietor,
William V. Mingione, violated various federal and state laws by charging Gilmore iausur
rate of interest on the loan that they had given her. Further, D. Gilmore alegdwn King
improperly disposed d. Gilmore’spersonapropertyitems when she refused to mést
demands for payment. D. Gilmore alleged that such conduct cBu&glenore actual and
emotional harnt.

On May 14, 2015, | granted in part and denied in part Gilmore’s motion for summary
judgment (doc. # 128)SeeMemorandum of Decision (doc. # 136). | granted summary
judgment in favor of Gilmore and against MingiameCount | (RICQsection 1962(c)) | also

granted summary judgment in favor of Gilmore and against Pawn Ki@gpont 11l (CUTPA)

! Plaintiff alleged two separate violations of the Racketeer Influenced angpEOrganizations Act (“RICO”), 18
U.S.C. § 1962(c) (Count I) and § 1962(b) (Count Il), a violation of the Cownéttnfair Trade Practices Act
(“CUTPA"), Conn. Gen. Stat. § 4P10a,et seq(Count IIl), a common law conversion claim (Count V), statutory
theft in violation of Conn. Gen. Stat. §-584 (Count V), a common law unjust enrichment claim (Count VI), a
violation of Conn. Gen. Stat. § 2iI7(a) (Cout VII), and a common law intentional infliction of emotional distress
claim (Count VIII).
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Count IV (Conversion), and Count VI (Unjust Enrichment). | granted summary judgment i
favor of the defendants on all other coumtscept the defendants’ counterclamn,which |
grantedsummary judgmenh favor of Gilmore).

Beginning on December 16, 2Q15onducted a thregay hearing to etermine the
amount owed to plaintiff as a resultMingione’s liability under civil RICO andPawn King’s
liability under the remaining state law claimily findings of fact and conclusions of law related

to the December 2015 hearing are as follows.

Background

BetweenOctober 2005 and December 2087 Gilmore entered intéive so-called
“repurchasktransactions with Pawn King. For each transactirGilmore would provide
Pawn King with personal properijemsin exchange for a sum of money. Undes trms of
the partiesagreement, B. Gilmore was given the opportunity to “repurchtsse itemby
paying Pawn King the princgbamount of money that she had received along with the
accumulated interest, which grew at a rate of twenty percent peh if2#t percent per annum).
For all intents and purposes, the transaction amounted to a loan inBvi@dmore’s personal
property was offered as collateral.

The parties do not dispute that, during the course of their transactam$)£tober 2005
until July 2008 B. Gilmore made $Z20in interest payments to Pawn King. During that same
periodB. Gilmore received $800 from Pawn King in return for the items that she had given to
Pawn King in the form of th&epurchase” transactign

On July 2, 2008B. Gilmore faxed defendants a letterwhich she informed Pawn King
of the potential illegality of its actions and requested that Pawn i€imgnall of herproperty.

The next day, Mingione responded via fax stating that the property that she rebadsted



already been disposed of based on business exigencies. In the ensuing daygshe part
exchanged further communications in whighGilmore demanded the return of her items and
Mingione demanded payment. On July 15, 2@&ilmore commenced suit federal court,
alleging claims under civil RICO and state law.

On May 14, 2015, | granted summary judgment in favor of Gilmore on Count | (RICO,
section 1962(c)), Count Il (CUTPA), Count IV (Conversion), and Count VI (Unjust
Enrichment). Beginning oBecember 16, 2015, | conducted a three-day hearing to determine

the amount of damagesie toGilmore.

[. Discussion

As a result of the hearing, | have identiffiece disputed issues: (1) whether, under 18
U.S.C. 8§ 1962(c), Gilmore is entitled to receivieadbling of all the damages claimed in the suit
or solely those incurred as a direct result of the RICO violation; (2) whetimgidvie isentitled
to a sedoff for the amount of money thhe provided toB. Gilmore from 2005 to 2008, and
whether the sedff should be applied before or after the trebling of damages under RICO; (3
whether the damages for the conversion claim include the value of the itameddb and
currently in the possession of D. Gilmore; (4) the value of the items subject tntrersion
claim; and %) whether, under CUTPA, Gilmore is entitled to punitive damages. The parties
agree that Gilmore is entitled to reasonable attoirfegs and costs under either civil RICO or

CUTPA, but not both.

A. Damages will only be trebled insofasthey directlyflow from the RICO violation

RICO provides that any person injured as a result of a violation of section 1962 may
recover treble damages, costs, and reasonable attorneys’ fees. 18 U.S.C. § 196rte).tdn o
recover damages under sent1964(c), a plaintiff must prove that the defendant’s violation of
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section 1962 actually caused plaintiff's injuf@ommercial Cleaning Servs., L.L.C. v. Colin
Serv. Sys., Inc271 F.3d 374, 380 (2d Cir. 2001). A plaintiff cannot establish that tiero
damages are “by reason of” the RICO violation unless there is proof that thexitleas the
legal, or proximate, cause of [plaintiff's] injury, as well as a logical, ofdoutause.”ld. (citing
Holmes v. Sec. Inv'r Prot. Corb03 U.S. 258, 268-69 (1992)) (internal quotation marks
omitted). But-for causation alone is insufficienkd.

Proximate causation will be found if the acts that constitute the RICO violatioa “are
substantial factor ithe sequence of responsible causation, and if the injury is reasonably
foreseeable or anticipated as a natural consequehisht v. Commerce Clearing House, |nc.
897 F.2d 21, 23-24 (2d Cir. 1990). Because it is plaintiff's burden to prove causation, it is
plaintiff's responsibility to prove that the RICO violation was a substantitdifat causing the
loss, not simply that it could have contributed to the claimed Kssick v. Ulloa2012 WL
2873364, at *9 (N.D.N.Y. July 12, 2012).

In Kesick v. Ulloathe courheldthat a plaintiff had failedo present evidence that she
was damaged as a result of false liens that were filed against her prées2p12 WL
2873364, at *9 Though thdiling of false liens was RICO violation, plaintiff failed to show
how she had been harmed by such condtike court held sonotwithstanding the fact that
defendant’s conduct had damaged her creditworthiness, which in turn could have harmed her
business or property interestSee id. The plaintiff was unable to collect damages as a result of
herdiminishedcreditworthiness becaushe faled to present any evidence of damages to her
business or property interestSee id.If a plaintiff cannot tie certain claimed damages to the
RICO violation, trebling of such damages would be in violation of RICO’s causation

requirement.



Count |, the sole RICO claim to survive summary judgment, alleges that Mingione
violated section 1962(c) when h#empted to collea@nunlawful debt in the form of usurious
interest chargesSeeMemorandum of Decision (doc. # 136). elttamages incurred by Gilmore
as a result oMingione’s section 1962(c) violation are the amounts Bh&ilmore paid as a
result ofMingione’sattempts to colleanunlawful debt.

The parties do not dispute tHatGilmore paid $2,720 in interest payments, which have
since been determined to be unlawful. Though Gilmore also alleges emotionaidused by
the usurious rate of interest, such harm is not a cognizable injury under civil FS&O.
Angermeir v. Coheri4 F.Supp. 3d 134, 152 (S.D.N.Y. 2014). Accordingly, the amount of
RICO damages to be trebled is the amount of interesBtt@ilmore paid® Trebling $2,720
amounts to total RICO damages$&, 160, along with applicable attornefsés and costs of the
suit?

Gilmore has not establishéghtheis entitled to the trebling dhedamages resulting
from Pawn King’'sconversion of persongkoperty(Count IV). Though it is true th&awn King
would not have had the opportunity to con\&rGilmore’s property ishe had not entered into
unlawful “repurchase” transactiomath Mingione, Gilmore has failed to establish that the
conversion wagroximately caused by the usurious interest rate.

RICO'’s treble damages provision is a powerful weafjojite court must therefore
review plaintiffs’ civil RICO allegations with particular scrutinyChubb & Son Inc. v.

Kelleher, 2006 WL 1789118, at *2 (E.D.N.Y. Mar. 28, 2006). Courts must endeavor to avoid

2 To the extent that defendants claim they should only be required thepaynbunt of interest in excess of the
lawful rate, that claim lacks meriSeeEquity Matgage, Inc. v. Nirp44 Conn. App. 471, 476 (199(¢nder cannot
collect any amount of interest on a usurious loanje Lico Mfg. Co.201 F. Supp. 899, 903 (D. Conn. 196ifj'd
sub nom. Cohn v. Lico Mf§o., 323 F.2d 871 (2d Cir. 1968ender cannbcollect on a usurious loan).

% Unlike RICO compensatory damages, attorneys’ fees incurred in@@ Rwsduit are not trebledCf. Loop Prod.

v. Capital Connections LLGZ97 F. Supp. 2d 338, 353 (S.D.N.Y. 2011) (trebled attorneys’ fees and costs not
awaded). Gilmore has not proven that any portion of the claimed attorneys’ famstarwere incurred as damages
before this lawsuit was filed.



the risk that “actions traditionally brought in state courts do not gain accesbleodamages
and attorneyf§ fees in federal court simply because they are cast in terms of RICQovislat
Id.

Gilmore adequately established tBatGilmoreentered into “repurchase” transactions
and Mingioneviolated RICO by collecting interest payments thatexgharged at a usurious
rate. However, she did not establish any facts indicating that the colletctiat mterest was
the proximate cause of her loss due to conversion. Specifically, there was no prBof that
Gilmore was willing to tender the pudipal amount of the loan in exchange for a return of her
goods. The fact that she demanded her goods by means of a demand letter ieimgaffic
establish that the usurious interest rate caused her to lose her propehty.tileB. Gilmore
demandedhe goods back, she had still not tendered an amount equal to the principal on the loan,
nor hadshe offeredo do so.

Had Gilmore established that, as a result of the illegal interest paymBe@imore
could no longer afford to buy back her itef@dmore might be able to establish that the RICO
violation was the proximate cause of the loss of her property. Thbisghossible thaB.
Gilmore would have been able to recover the items if she had not been charged a usairedus ra
interest, Gilmordailed to present any evidence that she would have been able to or would have
elected to do so. Without such proof, Gilmore is unable to establish that the conversion, though
clearly unlawful, was proximately caused by the RICO violation. Accordigglgnore may not
use RICO’s treble damages provision to trebleddi@agesesulting from the conversion &k

Gilmore’s personal property.



B. After RICO damages are calculatétingione isentitled to sebff the amount of money
thathe providedB. Gilmore in ®nnection with the “repurchase” transactions

| have found no authority on the questighether a plaintiff is entitled to damages under
RICO based on the collection af unlawful debt whenthe plaintiffreceived morén loan
principal than she paid in wawful interest paymentd.need not address the issoehis case
because RICO’s treble damages provision requires that an¥f et applied after the damages
had been trebledState Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Kaljkg007 WL 4326920, at *9 (E.D.N.Y.
Dec. 7, 2007) (recognizing that, though Second Circuit has not yet ruled on the issue, other
circuits have held that seff occurs after RICO damagase treblejl Accordingly, when a
defendant puts forth a claim of s#t-as an affirmative defense damages under RICO, the
court must first treble the RICO damages and then set-off the amount clainteddefendant.
See id.see also City of New York v. Pollp@006 WL 522462, at *17 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 3, 2006).

In the instant action, Mingioresses that any damages should bed@ty an amount
of $4,800, which represents the amountaghthathetenderedo B. Gilmore in connection
with the “repurchase” transactionSeeDefs.” Answer to Amended Complaint at 9 (doc. # 125).
Gilmore does not dispute that this amount should be set off, but asserts that it shouldfbe set of
after the trebling of the RICO damages. Because | agree that prevailing casstiagts a
court to set off damages after trebling, | will set off the $4,800 from the $8ybéth represents
the trebled amount of unlawfully collected interest payments. Thus, the totaletafoagount
| (RICO) amounts to a net of $3,360, plus attorneys’ feesbmdable costs

Following the hearing on damages, counsel for Gilmore subnaiti@dfidavit of
Attorney’s Fees(doc. # 149) The Affidavit of Attorney’s Fees attests that Attorney Klein
charged a rate of $250.00 per hour and billed a total of 267.8 hours during the course of his

representation of Gilmore, totalig$6,950 in attorneysees Because | find those fees



reasonable, | awai@ilmore attorneys’ feem thatamount. As a result of Count | (RICO),
Gilmore is awarde®&70,310, plus allowable costs. As the sole defendant in Count I, Mingione is
liable for the full amount.

C. Gilmore’s Conversion claim only entitlésém to damages caused by the resalB.of
Gilmore’s personal property without her authority

A defendant is only liable for conversion of items that the defendant “without
authorization, assumes and exercises ownership over . . . to the exclusion of the agirier’s ri
Deming v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. C&79 Conn. 745, 770 (2006). The defendant’s actions must
deprive the true owner of the property “permanently or for an indefinite tilde.A defendant
will not be liable for conversion merely because the plaintiff has establishdtahdefendant
exercised control over the itemsan unauthorized mannetee Kopperl v. Baji23 F. Supp. 3d
97, 103 (D. Conn. 2014)Rather, a plaintiff must show that the items at issue were “converted”
to the defendant’s own uséd.

The measure of damages in a conversion action is “the value of the goods at the date of
the conversion.”"Waterbury Petroleum Products, Inc. v. Canaan Oil & Fuel, @83 Conn. 208,
222 (1984) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted). A plaintiff may alsoereicoerest
on the property subject to the corsien claimif the court determines that it is the award is
consistent with the “demands of justic&See Wells Laundry & Linen Supply Co. v. ACME Fast
Freight, 138 Conn. 458, 463 (1952ke also Cadle Co. v. Fletch@014 WL 3962469, at *3
(D. Conn. Aug. 13, 2014).

In the instant case, Gilmore argubatPawn King idliable for the conversion of all of

the personal property thBt Gilmore entrustedo Pawn King in the variousepurchase”

* Though it will be discussed later, | should note that Pawn King is also labtae basis of its CUTPA ition,
for the full amount of reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurredinbgr& Accordingly, the defendants are
jointly and severally liable for Gilmore’s reasonable attorneyss,fasounting to @5,95Q plus allowable costs
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transactions.Gilmore’s claim for damagaacludes the valuef@roperty that was returned B
Gilmore’s estate in May 201%fter | granted Gilmore’s motion for summary judgment on the
conversion claim.

Gilmore has put forward no evidence of any damaged®th@timoresuffered as a result
of the unauthorized control over thersonapropertyitemsthat were later returned to her estate.
Those items consist of an engraved Tiffany & Co. (“Tiffafybracelet, a Tiffanis pocket
watch, a Parker Presidential pen, a gold Cartier lighter, and aaliglpe wristwach.
Gilmoredoes not allege consequential damages resulting from the inability to acdei$smnss
For example, no evidence indicates that, as a result of the property deprBatimorehad
to expend money to purchase replacements for these items. Nd@itloeseallege, much less
establish, that the items possessed any valBe @Gilmore’severyday life—value that was lost
as a result of the deprivation.

Finally, there is no proaghatPawn Kingconverted the returned propertyitoown use.
Mingione testified that the property just sat in one efuilrious vaults of Pawn King. After my
ruling in May 2015, once it became apparent that Pawn King was holding the property
unlawfully, Pawn Kingpromptly returned it. Without any proof that Raiing permanently
retained the returned property or converted phaperty to its own use, Gilmore cannot establish
a claim for damages of such property.

Of course, Gilmore is entitled to damages for the conversion of personal property tha
was disposedf by Pawn King Mingione testified that iduly 2008, he sold seven itemskf
Gilmore’s property in exchange for “scrap value” of the goods. The actliohd®trproperty

converted such property to Pawn King’s own use at the moment of the sale. Accordingly,



Gilmore is entitled to damages amounting to the market value of the sold items at the time of

Pawn King'ssaleof that property, plus interest.

D. Factual findings regarding the value of the sold items

The primary subject of the damages hearingtoaketermine the value of the goods
subject to the conversion claimBecause | hold that Gilmore may only seek money damages in
relation to the persongropertyitems thatPawn Kingsold, | will only make factual findings
regarding the value of the satdms.

At the outset, it is important to recognize that, bec&asen King“produced the
damage, [they] must bear the uncertainty of pro®erma Research & Dev. v. Singer Ca42
F.2d 111, 116 (2d Cir. 1976). That being said, thoughaften immssible to achieve
mathematical certainty with respect to the measure of damages, it is plaintiféskar
“provide sufficient evidence for the trier of fact to make a fair and reasondintates” Ulbrich
v. Groth 310 Conn. 375, 441 (2013).

The difficulty in this case lies in the fact that the sold goods were just-8wtl, and no
longer available for inspection. In an attempt to overctirasobstacleB. Gilmore’s son and
executor oher estate, D. Gilmorgrovided testimonyegardinghe items—jewelry and
collectiblecoins—B. Gilmore had pawned to Pawn King. D. Gilmore used a combination of
pawn tickets, personal notes, photograpifs receipts, prior appraisaland his own personal

recollectionin order to determine the identity theitemsthathad been soldD. Gilmore

® Damages arising ouf Gilmore’s CUTPA and unjust enrichment claims are also measurea lvaline of the
goods that were converted by defendants. However, the parties acknowledgjignibes is not entitled to
duplicative damages arising from the disposal of the prop8egause the CUTPA and unjust enrichment claims
are consistent with the damages Gilmore is entitled to receive undemtrersion claim, | will limit my discussion
to the conversion damage¥hough | do not go into a separate discussion of CUTPA danRaes, Kingremains
liable for Gilmore’s attorneys’ fees and costs as a result of its CUTddtien. Accordingly, Mingione is liable for
reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs arising out of Coaimd IPawn King is liable for reasonable attorneys’ fees
and costs arising out of Count Ill. Though the parties are jointllyszverally liable for attorneys’ fees and costs,
Gilmore may not achieve double recovery by collecting the full amfoomt both defendants.
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testified that he was personally involved in the pawn transactions executed lnthes and
that he was intimately familiar with the items at isstiarough higestimony Gilmorewas able
to establish which items wegiven to Pawn King, which were returned, and whiah
defendantshad sold as scrap metaDnceGilmoreestablished the specific items he believed
were sold, he used expert testimony to determine the value of such goods at ti¢hene
conversion.

Neil H. Cohen, a member of the American Society of Appraisers, testified t@tue of
the jewelry at issue. Paul Migomery a professional numismatist and appraiser, submitted a
sworn declaration regarding the value of ¢béectiblecoins that werelkegedly provided to
Pawn King and later sold. The parties do not dispute the validity of the expert opimioihe a
values that were ascribed to the jewelry and coins at issue. The main dispugsdire the
makeand physical propertiex the jewely and the quantitgf collectiblecoins thaB. Gilmore

provided to Pawn Kingl will addressthe disputed issuggem by item

1. 18-Karat Gold “Diamonds by the YardWecklace

D. Gilmore testified that one of the items that his mother pawned wb& leara, so-

called “Diamonds by the Yard” necklace. Through his testimony, the itemesgasliked as a
gold chain with diamonds in it. True to its name, the necklace was approximate orengard |
D. Gilmore testified thathe necklace was madg Tiffany’s and sold to his motheB. Gilmore,
in 1975. In an effort to aid Cohsrappraisal of the item, D. Gilmore provided the original
purchase receipt, which indicated tBaiGilmore purchased the item from Tiffany’s in 1975.
Though none of the pawn ticketientifies any item specifically as a “Diamonds by the Yard”
necklace, the November 12, 2005 pawn ticket listed a 14-karat, itiettyaecklace Pl.’s Ex. 1.

D. Gilmore testified that this annotation refleBtsGilmore’s pawning of the “Diamonds by the
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Yard” necklace because he remembers his mother pawning the item and his ndatioér di
possess angthersimilar jewelry.

Defendants argue that the thiitch necklace that Pawn King received fr8aGilmore
and later sold was not made by Tiffany’s. dHebeen made by Tiffany’s, Mingione testified that
it would not have been sold as scrap. As the parties agree, Tiffany’s itemsrdre premium
of at least twice, if not twanda-half times the market rate of the preci@tisnes and metals of
which they consist. Mingione testified that he never would have sold such a presioésr
scrap value. Furthermore, Mingione testified that he would have writtenriyi$faon the
pawn ticket had the item actually been from Tiffany’s.

| find that the “Diamonds by the Yard” necklace that D. Gilmore testified to being
pawned by his mother is the very same one that Cohen valued at $8,000. D. Gilmore possessed
great knowledge regarding his mother’s jewelry and it was clear that he edoagsmterest in
sud items prior to the date that they were pawned. D. Gilmore also testified that his naothe
an account at Tiffany’s and preferred to buy her jewelry th€hat along with the fact that D.
Gilmore was able to provideTaffany’s purchase receipt t8ohen madeD. Gilmore’s
testimony credible and establishibat the pawned item was a TiffanyBiamonds by the
Yard” necklace.

Mingione’s testimony, though not incredible, was not sufficient to overcome the proof
that Gilmore provided. The fact that thawn ticket did not list the item as coming from
Tiffany’s does not weigh heavily in favor of proof that the item was genericr @ffdawn
King did not have an incentive to highlight the value of gehat it was receiving in pawn.
Doing so would increase the amount of money that a customer would be able to request in

exchange for the itemEvidence of such a practice can be found on the December 24, 2007
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pawn ticket memorandum, where the ticket identifies akat8t gold bracelet, engraved with
the name John C. Gilmore. That bracelet was one of the items retuBie@ibmore’s estate
and the parties do not contest the fact thatfioim Tiffany’s. However, the December 24
2007, pawn ticket makes no indication that the bracefatns Tiffany’s. This conspicuous
absence strengthens my conclusion that | should not put much weight on omissiating from
pawn tickets’ description of the goods.

Mingione’s assertion that he would not sell a Tiffany’s item as scrap similaely not
alter my contusion Mingione testified that he sold items in bulk and did not itemize the items
that he was selling as scrap. It is quite conceivable that Mingione did niotosgell a Tiffany’s
necklace for scrap valubut did so by inadvertence. Furthermddingione’s testimony does
not conclusively establish that he did not disposialf particular neckladaey alternative
means. Accordigly, | find that Gilmore is entitled to $8,000 in damages for the conversion of

her “Diamonds by the Yard” necklace.

2. 14-Karat Gold and Emeral@ufflinks with Matchingstickpn

The next item that D. Gilmore testifiedbout was his mother’s Iarat gold and emerald
cufflinks and matching stickpinD. Gilmore testified that, in order to help identify thmerald
cufflinks and stickpin, he provided Cohewith a 1980 appraisal of the items from Playhouse
Jeweles. Playhouse Jewekewas a local business whe®#more’sfather would routinely go to
getB. Gilmore’s jewelry appraised for insurance purposes. The appraisal, gréowithee court
as an addendum to Cohen’s expert report, identifies 14-karatgfflidks and a matching
stickpin. Pl.’s Ex. 4. According to the appraisal, each cufflinkdra@merald stones in it. That
description matches Gilmore’s photographs of the cufflirdaePl.’s Ex.10A. Moreover, the

description matches the December 23, 2005, pawn ticket description of cufflinks arigia sti
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that were sold to Pawn King B/ Gilmore. Pl.’s Ex. 1. Though the pawn ticket does not say

that the cufflinls contained emerald stones, it does mention that it contained something that was
“RND” and “GRN,” which can be taken to describe the round green emeralds seen ane&Im
photograph and mentioned in the Playhouse Jewelppsaisal.

Once again, defendants contend that the cufflinks and stickpin are not, as D. Gilmore
contends, from Tiffany’s. For the reas@ieadystated, | do not findlingione’s testimony
persuasive. D. Gilmore maintained a conviction that certain items werelffiamy’s and |
find that to be true, based on his knowledghisfimother'gewelry andherhistory of purchasing
items from Tiffany’s.

Based on D. Gilmore’s testimony and on the similarity among the photograph, the
Playhouse Jewelgrappraisal, and the pawn ticket, I fiticht the cufflinks at issue are the ones
that D. Gilmore purports them to be. Accordingly, | adopt Cohen’s valuation of thalauff

and matching stickpin and award Gilmore $8,825 in damages for their conversion.

3. 14Karat Gold Cufflinks with Florentine Finish

The facts regarding the cufflinks with Florentine finish are substantiallyaine as the
emerald cufflinks. Through D. Gilmore’s own rdeation, the Playhouse Jewedeappraisal,
and the corresponding December 23, 2005 pawn ticket, | find that the cufflinks with Florentine
finish are those that D. Gilmore purports them to be. Like the emerald cufflink¥afteouse
Jewelersappraisal and the pawn ticket describe them in a similar manner. Both note yhat the
are 14karat gold, round, ancbrtain blue stones in the middle. A photograph of the cufflinks
further corroborates that the pawn ticket and Playhouse Jewsgdprsiisal were referring to the
same item.Though the pawn ticket does not identify the blue stones as sapphires, the common

descriptionof the itemsalong with other corroborating evidence, makes it clear that the
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cufflinks are the same. For those reasons, | adopt Cohen’s valuation of the cufilin&s w

Florentine finish and award Gilmore $3,500 in damages for their conversion.

4. 18-Karat GoldPin with Flower Motif

The facts regarding the gold pin with a flower motif are the same as thosespétt to
the cufflinks, with the exception that there is no evidence that the pin was evereppsais
Playhouse Jewelers. D. Gilmore provided Cohen with a detailed description of the pin and a
photographdepictingthe item. SeePl.’s Ex.10C. Both matched the description of the pin listed
on the November 12, 2005, pawn ticket. The pawn ticket described the pin as being round with
blue stone$. That corroborates D. Gilmore’s description of the pin as containing blue sapphires,
along with the photograph, which depicts a pin with blue circular stones. Accordihglg,
that the flower motif pin pawned and never returned.t@ilmore was lhe one that D. Gilmore
purports it to be. | adopt Cohen’s valuation of the gold pin with a flower motif and award

Gilmore $3,950 in damages for its conversion.

5. 14Karat Gold Circle Leaf Pin

The facts regarding the gold circle leaf pin are suhisianthe same as those with
respect to the flower motif piand cufflinks. D. Gilmore provided Cohwiith a detailed
description of the pin and a photograph depicting it. Both descriptions matched a pin listed on
the November 12, 2005, pawn ticket, which described the pin as having “leaves,” and containing
round blue stones. For the reaseesforthabove, | adop€ohen’s valuation of the gold circle

leaf pin and award Gilmore $3,950 in damages for its conversion.

® For reasons stated above, the pawn ticket’s characterization of the pikarsitl4i0t 1&karat, is not dispositive.
| find D. Gilmore’s description of the pin as-k8rat gold to be credible. Regardless, as Cohen testified, the
difference in value between an-k8rat item and a tKarat item is not significant. Pawn King bears the
“uncertainty of proof.” SeePerma Researgtb42 F.2d at 116.
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6. 18k Gold $5 Indian Head Gold Cufflinks

With respect to the Indian head cufflinks, D. Gilmore testified that, though he did not
have any pictures of the items, he remembered them vividly. He provided @ithendetailed
description of the items along with a replacement cost quote from$etley Jewelers. That
description matched the November 12, 2005 pawn ticket, which described the cufflinks as
“Indian Head Coin” cufflinks, made by Dunhill. D. Gilmore does not claim that thedekaff
came from Tiffany’s, and it appears there is npulis that the cufflinks on the pawn ticket are
the same ones that D. Gilmore describe@dben. Accordingly, | adopCohen’s valuation of

the Indian head cufflinks and award Gilmore $1,550 for their conversion.

7. Tanzanite Diamond Engagement Ring

The lastpiece of jewelry that D. Gilmore testifiedbout was his mother’s tanzanite ring.
D. Gilmore testified that the ring was his mother’'s engagement ring andhihiagh he could not
provide any prior appraisals or pictures of the item, he remembered it vividly. seigbeel the
ring ascontaininga blue, square tanzang®ne surrounded liwelve small diamondsHe also
testified that it was made by Tiffany’s.

D. Gilmore testified that his vivid memory of the ring was due to the fact that his mother
wore it frequently and that he wasratted to it as a childFurther, he teédied that his mother
told him that, should he ever get engaged, he could use the ring as an engagenueritising
fiancée. As a result of the significance of the ring, D. Giletestified that he was aware of its
details, including the carat size.

It is important to note that, although D. Gilmore does not provide any other corroborating
evidence with respect to the tanzanite ring, his description of thenatghes the descriph on

the November 12, 200pawn ticket. The pawn ticket lists a ring that was blue with diamonds
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on it. Such corroboration, along with D. Gilmore’s credible testimony regardingeldic
details of the ring, makes it more likely than not that #ened ring was in fact the tanzanite
ring. The fact that the pawn ticket did not list the ring as being made by T#fenyot
dispositive. Given D. Gilmore’s description of the ring as being from Tifearayid higamily’s
practice ofpurchasingewdry from Tiffany’s, it is credible that his father purchased the
engagement ring from Tiffany’sAccordingly, | adopCohen’s valuation of the tanzanite ring

and award $19,000 for its conversion.

8. Coin Collection

D. Gilmore testified thahis mother hadlso pawned variousollectiblecoins. Prior to
the coins being pawned, D. Gilmore testified that he compiled a handwritten irywehtoe
coins to be soldSeeExhibit 2. According to his testimony, he compiled the list just as his
mother was taking thboxes of coins out of the safe. After looking in the boxes to make sure
that the coins were accounted for, he would record the amount and type of coins and then place
the coins into a suitcase. Then, D. Gilmore testified, he and his mother took¢hsesto Pawn
King so that Gilmore could pawn the coins in exchange for cash.

The December 23, 2005, pawn ticket, which D. Gilmore agrees is the ticket thed telat
the coin transaction, stated that Gilmore pawned eighty-seven $5 coins, two $50 gbtril ei
silver coins, and ten 50-cent silver coins. During cesamination, D. Gilmore testified that his
mother had in fact pawned more coins than those listed in the pawn ticket. However, De Gilmor
has no evidence of this fact besidesdalb-serving testimony that he packed a couple hundred
coins into the briefcase that was later brought to Pawn King.

Mingione contests the allegation t&atGilmore pawned more coins than were listed on

the pawn ticket. In fact, Mingione testified tl&atGilmore had only pawned eight $5 coins, not
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eightyseven. Mingione testifiethat the listing of “87” on the pawn ticketust have been a
result of a typographical error. Mingione said that, while typing the digitHi8,finger must
have slipped to hit ther® key as well.

D. Gilmore tries to point to his handwritten inventorydigs establish that his mother had
pawned far more coins thaverelisted on the pawn ticketSeeExhibit 2 There were three
pages of Exhibit 2 and it is unclear which, if any, portion of Exhibit 2 contains agcurat
information. Moreover, even if accurate, the lists do not corroborate D. Gilmoit&iscey.

Page one of Exhibit 2, the first handwritiest, corroborates Mingione’s testimony th&
Gilmore had pawned eight $5 coins, not eighty-seven. The second page of Exéibit B2ss
legible than the first onand written with a different pen, contains indicia of inauthenticity
and/or inaccuracy in the form of strikethroughs and cross-outs. The third and finaf page
Exhibit 2 is similar, though not identical, to the first page. It also indicates #ratulere eight
$5 coins. Finally, and perhaps most importantly, the number esghsa is not listed anywhere
on any of the Gilmore’s handwritten ligesxcept as paof the number “1987”, which
presumably indicatethe year that certain coins were mintéd)

| find that the pawn ticket reflectle coins that were actually pawned. | also find
Mingione’s testimony regarding the accidental typing of a “7” to be credibtsh that the
number of $5 coins th&. Gilmore pawned was more likely eight than eigbéyen.

Accordingly, | find thatB. Gilmore pawned eight $5 coins, two $50 coins, eight $1 silver coins,

and ten 50-cent silver coins.

" In addition to the possibility that Mingione’s finger slipped, causimg tai type “87” instead of “8,” it is also
possible that Mingione typed “87” teflect that the $5 coins were minted in 1987. Such a possibility is
corroborated by Montgomery’s expert report, which lists the $5 coindras inénted in 1987, and D. Gilmore’s
handwritten lists, which contain “1987” next to the entry for the $5 coins
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Becausehe parties doot dispute Montgomery’s valuation of the coins at issue, | adopt
his factual findings regarding their respective valu&s.noted in my earlier discussion of
conversion damages, the measure of conversion damages is the market valuenofahihée
time of the conversion. Thus, | hold that the appropriate measure of dambgssdn
Montgomery’s findings with regard to the markatueof the coins as of July 200&eeP!.’s
Ex. 3. Because Pawn King did not convert the goods to its own use until it sold them in July
2008, the conversion damages must be measured in accordance with the items’ value on that
date.

Montgomery opined that, on July 1, 2008, the coins were valued as folltheekb gold
coinsat $#25per coin the $50 coins at $1,550 per coin; the $1 silver coins at $10 per coin; and
the 50-cent silver coins at $7.25 per cdiBeePl.’s Ex. 3. Ascribing those values to the coins at

issue, the total amount of damages that resulted from their conversion is $5052.50.

E. Total Conversion Bmages

Based on my factual findings regarding the value opthenedtems that were never
returned tdB. Gilmore or her estate hold that Gilmore is entitled to conversidamages
against Pawn King the amount of $53,827.50, plus interest. Thatrégepresents damages

that resulted from the defendants’ conversioB.dBilmore’s “Diamonds by the Yard” necklace

8 Exhibit 3 sets forth Montgomery’s opinion regarding the value of various,aoisy of which | have determined
are not subject to the existing dispute over damages because Gilmoreatamsthhlish that she had pawned those
coins. The parties didot do a good job identifying which coins on the December 23, 2005 pawn ticletpmurd

to which type of coin valued by Montgomery. However, through processwifiation, | have determined that the
$50 coins at issue are described by Montgomery 84 88 $50 GAE PR,” the $5 coins are described as the “1987
$5 Gold Constitution,” the $1 silver coins are described as part of the “1987 §&Gudtitution and $1 Silver

Set,” and the 5@ent silver coins are described as the “1982 Washington Half Dolka&ePl.’s Ex. 3. With regard
to the $1 silver coins, | have determined their value by subtracting ltreeafethe $5 Gold Constitution coin from
the value of the $5 Gold Constitution and $1 Silver set. Doing so resuies value of the $1 Silveroin standing
alone ($235 for the set, minus $225 for the $5 Gold Constitution coin, yieldseaof&0 to be ascribed to the $1
Silver cain).

° Eight $5 coins x $225 per coin = $1800. Two $50 coins x $1,550 per coin = $3,100. Eight $1 sikvafa6i

per coin = $80. Ten 56ent coins x $7.25 per coin = $72.50. The total value of the coins atisk®©52.50
($1,800 + $3,100 + $80 + $72.50 = $5,052.50).
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($8,000), gold and emerald cufflinks ($8,825), gold cufflinks with Florentine finish ($3,500),
gold pin with flower motif ($3,950), gold leaf pin ($3,950), $5 Indian head cufflinks ($1,550),
tanzanite diamond ring ($19,000), and coin collection ($5,052.50).

Under Connecticut law, “interest at the rate of ten per cent a year, and no mobse ma
recovered and allowed in civil actions ... as damages for the detention of moneybaftemes
payable.” Conn. Gen. Stat. § 37-3a. “An award of prejudgment interest under secBarms37—
an equitable determination within the discretion of the couinet Analytics, Inc. v.
Diversified Solutias, Inc, 2013 WL 6511940, at *8 (D. Conn. Dec. 12, 2013) (citing
Brandewiede v. Emery Worldwid&0 F. Supp. 79, 82 (D. Conn. 1994)). Before it can award
interest, a court must first determine “(1) whether the party against whantehest is sought
has wrongfully detained money due the other party; and (2) the date upon which thieilwrong
detention began in order to determine the time from which interest should be edltutsars
Roebuck & Co. v. Bd. of Tax Revjeé41 Conn. 749, 763 (1997). lf8étermine that interest is
appropriate in this case, | have the discretion to award up to ten percent interdst tha a
discretion to award lesdd. at 765—-66.

| have already ruled th&awn Kingwrongfully disposed of B. Gilmore’s property in

Juy 2008. Pawn Kingreceived cash as a result of the disposal of B. Gilmore’s properiy and
failed to return that money to B. Gilmor&ecause oPawn King’swrongful conductB.
Gilmore was deprived of the opportunity to use and earn interest on the money she dvas owe
Accordingly, the demands of justice require an award of intéxestthe date of the conversion,
July 20080 the date ofhis judgment.

Although | am permitted to award a prejudgment interestofat@ toten percent per

annum, | vll award a rate thahore accurately reflesthe market conditions during the relevant
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period specifically, threeandonehalf percent. See Cadle Cp2014 WL 3962469, at *4.
Threeandonehalf percenteflects a rough approximation of the averagekh@imme interest
rate during the relevant period, from July 2008 to March 206t rate will be applied to
produce a total prejudgment interest award derived from a simple interesitoacafthree
anda-half percenper annum. Applying an interasite ofthreeanda-half percenper annum to
aprincipal amount of $53,827.50 for a period from July 2008 to March,2Gl@ard Gilmore
$16,055.32 in prejudgment interest. Accordingly, the total damages for the converision cla

against Pawn Kingmounts to $69,882.82.

F. Defendants’ conduct does not warrant punitive damages

An award of punitive damages under CUTPA is discretion8geGargano v. Heyman
203 Conn. 616, 622 (1987). A court may only consider awarding punitive damages if there is
evidence that the defendant exhibitedéekless indifference to the rights of others or an
intentional and wanton violation of those rights . . Ulbrich v. Groth 310 Conn. 375, 446
(2013) Claims for punitive damages are warranted in cases where the@ni®fvand
malicious injury,” or an “evil motive.”ld.

There is no evidence of malicious conduct on the part of Pawn King. D. Gilmore
testified that Mingione was “very respectful” of his mother and acknowledigeédviingione did
not requireB. Gilmore to make interest payments for each month during the relevant time
period. Although D. Gilmore contested the number of interest payments that werbynasle
mother, he admittethat hehad no proof that his mother made additional payments.pdities’
stipulation establishes that there were sigaificgaps irB. Gilmore’s payments. Such gaps

showthatPawn King, through Mingione, did not require her to make payments each month.
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Furthermore, Gilmore did not present sufficient evidence to establishaatking
acted with an “evil motive.” It is unclear whetHeawn Kingintentionally violatedB. Gilmore’s
rights. In fact, Mingione’s testimony indicates that he thought that his condadawful.
Though that fact does not absoRawn King'’s liabiliy under CUTPA, it does suggekat
punitive danages are unwarranted. Accordindlfind thatGilmore is not entitled to punitive

damages.

[1. Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, Gilmore is entitled to treble damages under RIGO in t
amount of the unlawfunterest payments it made to Pawn Kingnus the amount of cagh
Gilmorereceived from Pawn King as a result of the pawn transactions. That figure anwount
$3,360. Because Mingione is the sole defendant in Count I, he is liable for the full ahount
those damages.

Under both RICO and CUTPA5ilmoreis entitled to reasonable attorneys’ feiesthe
amount of $66,950, plus allowahliests The defendants are jointly and severally liable for this
amount because Mingione is liable for attorneys’ fees and costs under RIC@van&iRg is
liable for the same under CUTPA.

Further, Gilmore ismtitled to conversion damages in the amount of the market value of
the goods that were not returnedtoGilmore’sestate, plus prejudgment interest. The total
conversion damages amounts to $69,882.82. Because Pawn King is the sole defendant in Count
IV, it is liable for the full amount of damagas a result of its conversioilmore is not
entitled toadditional compensatory or punitive damages under his CUTPA claim or his unjust
enrichment claim because those damages have already been takeroutd iacawarding him

damages under his RICO and conversion claims.
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The clerk shall enter judgment and close the case.
So ordered.
Dated at Bridgeport, Connecticut, this 28ty ofMarch2016.
/s STEFAN R. UNDERHILL

Stefan R. Underhill
United States District Judge
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